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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, SAN JOSE DIVISION.

ANNA MARIE PHILLIPS, on behalf of
herself and others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

P.F. CHANG’S CHINA BISTRO, INC., an
Arizona corporation, and Does 1
through 50, inclusive,

Defendants.

CASE NO. 5:15-CV-00344

DEFENDANT P.F. CHANG’S CHINA

BISTRO, INC.’S NOTICE OF REMOVAL

OF CLASS ACTION

Santa Clara Sup. Ct. No. 114CV274263
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PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that Defendant P.F. Chang’s China Bistro, Inc. (“P.F.

Chang’s”), through its undersigned counsel, hereby removes the above-captioned

action from the Superior Court of the State of California, for the County of Santa

Clara, to the United States District Court for the Northern District of California, San

Jose Division, under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331-1332, 1441, 1446, and 1453. In support of

this Notice of Removal, P.F. Chang’s states:

1. On or about December 24, 2013, plaintiff Anna Marie Phillips

(“plaintiff”) commenced this putative class action against P.F. Chang’s by filing a

Class Action Complaint (“Complaint”) in the Superior Court of the State of

California, for the County of Santa Clara, bearing case number 114CV274263. The

Complaint asserts five causes of action for (1) Violation of California’s Unruh Civil

Rights Act (Cal. Civ. Code § 51, et seq.); (2)Violation of California’s Disabled

Persons Act (Cal. Civ. Code § 54, et seq.); (3) Unfair Business Practices (Cal. Bus.

& Prof. Code § 17200, et seq.); (4) Unlawful Business Practices (Cal. Bus. & Prof.

Code § 17200, et seq.); and (5) Restitution Based on Quasi-Contract/Unjust

Enrichment.

2. The U.S. Supreme Court recently affirmed that a defendant needs only

to plausibly allege the requirements for federal jurisdiction to remove. That is, a

defendant only needs to file in the federal forum a notice of removal “containing a

short and plain statement of the grounds for removal”; no evidentiary submissions

need to be submitted. Dart Cherokee Basin Operating Co. v. Owens, 574 U. S.

____ (2014) (slip op., at 1-2) (citing 28 U. S. C. §1446(a)), available at

http://www.supremecourt.gov/opinions/14pdf/13-719_8mjp.pdf.

3. As more fully set out below, this case is properly removed to this

Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1441 because P.F. Chang’s has satisfied the procedural

requirements for removal, and because this Court has subject matter jurisdiction

over this action under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331-1332.
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I. THE PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS FOR REMOVAL ARE MET.

4. Upon information and belief, plaintiff served the Complaint on P.F.

Chang’s on December 24, 2013. Accordingly, this Notice of Removal is timely

filed under 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b).

5. The Superior Court of the State of California, for the County of Santa

Clara, is located in the Northern District of California, San Jose Division. Thus,

venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 84 because this is the “district and division

embracing the place where such action is pending.” See 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a).

6. No previous application has been made for the relief requested herein.

7. Under 28 U.S.C. 1446(a), a copy of all process, pleadings, and orders

served upon P.F. Chang’s are attached as Exhibit 1 to this Notice of Removal.

Under 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d), a copy of this Notice of Removal is being served upon

counsel for plaintiff, and copy is being filed with the clerk of the Superior Court of

the State of California, for the County of Santa Clara.

II. REMOVAL IS PROPER BECAUSE THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION UNDER THE

CLASS ACTION FAIRNESS ACT.

8. This case is subject to removal under the Class Action Fairness Act of

2005. Pub. L. No. 109-2, 119 Stat. 4 (codified in various sections of 28 U.S.C.)

(“CAFA”).

9. Plaintiff purports to brings this suit on behalf of “the following classes

[sic]: All persons who (1) have been diagnosed with celiac disease, or an intolerance

or allergy to gluten; and (2) who purchased items from P.F. Chang’s gluten-free

menu in California within four years prior to the filing of the Complaint and

continuing to the present.” Comp.¶ 18 (emphasis added). “Classes” appears to be a

typographical error.

10. As set forth below, this is a putative class action in which (1) there are

100 or more members in plaintiff’s proposed class; (2) at least some members of the

proposed class have a different citizenship from P.F. Chang’s; and (3) the aggregate
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amount in controversy exceeds $5 million. Thus, this Court has subject matter

jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d), and § 1453(b).

A. Diversity of Citizenship.

11. At least one member of the proposed class is a citizen of a state

different from P.F. Chang’s. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A).

12. A corporation like P.F. Chang’s is a citizen of every state by which it

has been incorporated and of the state where it has its principal place of business. 28

U.S.C. § 1332. Here, P.F. Chang’s has been incorporated in Delaware and has its

principal place of business in Scottsdale, Arizona.

13. Plaintiff brings this suit on behalf of a California class. Comp.¶ 18.

Plaintiff alleges she “visited P.F. Chang’s in Santa Clara County during the past four

years” and “[s]he ordered items from P.F. Chang’s gluten free menu.” Based on this,

and upon information and belief, plaintiff is a California citizen residing in Santa

Clara County.

14. The diversity of citizenship between plaintiff and P.F. Chang’s

satisfies the diversity requirements of CAFA, which requires only that the

citizenship of “any member of a class” be diverse from “any defendant.” Because

the named plaintiff is a California resident, and P.F. Chang’s is a citizen of

Delaware and Arizona, the “minimal diversity” requirement under CAFA is met. 28

U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A).

B. The Amount-in-Controversy Requirement Is Satisfied.

15. The aggregate amount in controversy, exclusive of interests and costs,

exceeds $5,000,000. 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d)(2), 1332(d)(6). P.F. Chang’s disputes

that the proposed class could ever be certified or that P .F. Chang’s is liable for any

of the claims plaintiff asserts in the Complaint. Although plaintiff does not plead a

specific amount of damages, P.F. Chang’s can demonstrate that the aggregate

amount in controversy here exceeds $5,000,000. Dart Cherokee Basin Operating

Co. v. Owens, 574 U. S. ____ (2014) (slip op., at 1) (“When the plaintiff’s complaint
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does not state the amount in controversy, the defendant’s notice of removal may do

so.”) (citing 28 U.S.C. §1446(c)(2)(A)).

16. P.F. Chang’s is a casual dining restaurant with locations across the

country. There are approximately 36 P.F. Chang’s restaurants in California.1

17. P.F. Chang’s offers a gluten free menu at its restaurants,2 which is the

subject of this suit.

18. Plaintiff alleges that it is medically necessary for her and other

individuals to avoid consuming foods that contain or are exposed to gluten. Comp.¶

2. Plaintiff alleges that P.F. Chang’s gluten-free menu charges one additional dollar

per item. Comp.¶ 14. Plaintiff thus alleges that P.F. Chang’s discriminates against

consumers with celiac disease and those with an intolerance or allergy to gluten.

Comp.¶ 15-16, 18.

19. Plaintiff seeks the following relief on behalf of the putative class, in

relevant part:

 For restitution of the surcharges that Plaintiff and putative class members

paid for gluten-free menu items, or restitutionary disgorgement of the

profits Defendants have obtained from those transactions;

 For compensatory damages for all causes of action for which they are

available; For treble damages under California Civil Code § 52(a) or for a

1 1. Anaheim, 2. Bakersfield, 3. Beverly Center, 4. Burbank, 5. Carlsbad, 6.
Chino Hills, 7. Chula Vista, 8. Corte Madera, 9. El Segundo, 10. Emeryville, 11.
Fremont 12. Fresno, 13. Irvine, 14. La Jolla, 15. Long Beach, 16. Mission Viejo, 17.
Monterey, 18. Newport, 19. Oakridge Mall, 20. Palo Alto, 21. Pasadena, 22.
Pleasanton, 23. Rancho Cucamonga, 24. Rancho Mirage, 25. Riverside, 26.
Roseville, 27. Sacramento, 28. San Diego, 29. Santa Monica, 30. Sherman Oaks, 31.
Sunnyvale, 32. Temecula, 33. Thousand Oaks, 34. Torrance, 35. Walnut Creek, 36.
Woodland Hills.

2www.pfchangs.com/menu/PrinterFriendlySection.aspx?menu=191&mid=16.
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minimum $4,000 per violation under California Civil Code § 52(a)

[emphasis added];

 For punitive damages for causes of action for which they are available;

 For a declaration and order enjoining Defendants from charging a higher

price for gluten-free menu items than for non-gluten free menu items

under California Civil Code § 55 and California Business & Professions

Code § 17203;

 For an order awarding reasonable attorneys’ fees and the costs of suit

herein; and

 For an award of pre- and post-judgment interest. Comp. at pp.13-14.

20. As emphasized above, plaintiffs’ request $4,000 per violation under

Civil Code § 52(a). Plaintiff claims that each time a putative class member was

surcharged while dining at a P.F. Chang’s location for ordering a gluten free item(s),

the putative class member is entitled to $4,000. Given this $4,000 statutory

minimum, the amount and controversy can be met by making reasonable

assumptions about the putative class.

21. Per the U.S. Census, California had an estimated population of

38,332,521 in 2013.3

22. The putative class includes those with celiac disease. Comp. ¶ 18. It’s

common medical knowledge that celiac disease affects approximately 1% of the

population.4

3 http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/06000.html.
4 See, e.g., The National Foundation for Celiac Awareness,

http://www.celiaccentral.org/celiac-disease/facts-and-figures/; National Institutes of
Health,www.celiac.nih.gov/FAQ.aspx; WebMD, http://www.webmd.com/digestive-
disorders/news/20131212/celiac-disease-gluten-sensitive.

Case5:15-cv-00344-RMW   Document1   Filed01/23/15   Page6 of 36



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

4844-0964-8417.4 7
DEFENDANT P.F. CHANG’S NOTICE OF REMOVAL

LEWIS
BRISBOIS
BISGAARD
&SMITH LLP
ATTORNEYS AT LAW

23. The putative class also includes those with an intolerance or allergy to

gluten. Comp. ¶ 18. Some experts describe this as “non-celiac gluten sensitivity,” or

NCGS.5 NCGS affects as many as 6% of the population.6

24. Assuming 1% of the California population has celiac disease or an

intolerance or allergy to gluten, this equates to approximately 383,325 people

(38,332,521*.01).

25. The market for gluten-free products is growing rapidly and is expected

to surpass $6.2 billion worldwide by 2018.7

26. Given the popularity of gluten free products in general, and the 36 P.F.

Chang’s locations statewide, it is safe to assume that 1% of those California citizens

with celiac disease or gluten intolerance have dined at P.F. Chang’s in California in

the past four years. The hypothetical putative class in this case can thus be estimated

at 3,833 putative class members (383,325*.01).

27. To reach the $5 million amount in controversy, there would only have

to be 1,250 putative class members ($5,000,000 / $4,000 (minimum damage amount

under Civil Code § 52(a)).

28. Here, however, there is an estimated 3,833 putative class members. In

light of this analysis, the aggregate amount in controversy is in excess of

$5,000,000. This analysis is not even including plaintiff’s other claims for relief,

such as treble and punitive damages.

///

5 WebMD, http://www.webmd.com/digestive-
disorders/news/20131212/celiac-disease-gluten-sensitive.

6 Id.
7 Id.
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C. Class Action Consisting of More Than 100 Members.

29. As explained above, the aggregate number of class members in

plaintiff’s proposed class—estimated at approximately 3,833—is greater than 100

for purposes of 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(5)(B).

III. THIS COURT ALSO HAS FEDERAL-QUESTION JURISDICTION.

30. This case is subject to removal under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, as plaintiff’s

Disabled Persons Act Claim (Civ. Code § 54 et seq.) (“DPA”) arises under federal

law.

31. For her DPA claim, plaintiff correctly alleges a violation of the federal

Americans with Disabilities Act also constitutes a violation of the DPA. Comp. ¶ 40

(citing Cal. Civ. Code § 54.1(d)). Plaintiff goes on to allege P.F. Chang’s violated

the ADA by putting a surcharge on gluten-free items. Comp. ¶¶ 41-48. Plaintiff

concludes that because P.F. Chang’s conduct violates the ADA, it also violates the

DPA. Comp. ¶ 48. Based on this ADA violation, plaintiff seeks an injunction

enjoining further surcharges by P.F. Chang’s on gluten-free orders by persons with

celiac disease or gluten sensitivities. Comp. ¶ 49. Plaintiff does not allege that P.F.

Chang’s violated the DPA standard itself. Instead, she alleges that P.F. Chang’s

violated the ADA, which by operation of law violates the DPA.

32. Plaintiffs do not request the minimum damages of $1,000 under the

DPA (Civ. Code § 54.3(a)) presumably because plaintiff seeks to collect the

minimum $4,000 under § 52(a) instead. See Civ. Code § 54.3(c)) (limiting recovery

to one section or the other).

33. Federal question jurisdiction will lie over state law claims that “really

and substantially” involve a dispute or controversy respecting the validity,

construction or effect of federal law. Grable & Sons Metal Prods. v. Darue Eng’g

& Mfg., 545 U.S. 308, 314 (2005). This case presents a federal issue of first

impression—whether a surcharge for gluten-free items at a restaurant is a violation

of the ADA. The facts in this case pass the Grable & Sons’ test: first, this DPA state

Case5:15-cv-00344-RMW   Document1   Filed01/23/15   Page8 of 36
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law claim necessarily raises a federal issue under ADA that is actually disputed;

second, the federal interest in the issue is substantial (issue of first impression); and

third, the exercise of federal jurisdiction would not disturb “any congressionally

approved balance of federal and state judicial responsibilities.” See Grable & Sons

Metal Products, Inc., 545 U.S. at 314.

34. Plaintiff’s DPA state law claim for injunctive relief is premised solely

on a violation of the ADA. This DPA claim then is no different than a federal ADA

claim. Federal-question jurisdiction thus exists here. “Simply by incorporating the

ADA into state law, state legislatures cannot divest the federal courts of original

jurisdiction over state claims that are, for all intents and purposes, federal ADA

claims.”8

35. Thus, the Court has original jurisdiction over the DPA state claim for

injunctive relief, and supplemental jurisdiction (28 U.S.C. § 1367) over the other

claims.

IV. THE REQUIREMENTS OF 28 U.S.C. § 1446 ARE MET.

36. Timeliness. A notice of removal may be filed within 30 days after the

defendant receives a copy of the initial pleading, motion, or other papers from it

may be ascertained that the case is removable. 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b). P.F. Chang’s

designated agent for receipt of service of process first received a copy of the

Complaint on December 24, 2013. Therefore, P.F. Chang’s received a copy of the

document from which it was ascertained that the case is removable, at the earliest,

on December 24, 2013. Therefore, the Notice of Removal is timely filed.

///

8 Pickern v. Best W. Timber Cove Lodge Marina Resort, 194 F. Supp. 2d
1128, 1131 n.5 (E.D. Cal. 2002) (emphasis added).
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37. Removal to Proper Court. This Court is part of the district and

division in which the action was filed – Santa Clara County, California. 28 U.S.C.

§ 1446(a).

38. Procedural Requirements. As required by 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d), P.F.

Chang’s will file an appropriate notice in the state court action, and will serve on all

counsel of record a true and correct copy of this Notice of Removal. Section

1446(a) also requires a removing party to provide this Court a copy of all “process,

pleadings, and order” served on it in the state court action. A true and correct copy

of the Complaint and all papers served with the Complaint is attached hereto as

Exhibit 1.

Therefore, defendant P.F. Chang’s respectfully removes this action from the

Superior Court of the State of California, for the County of Santa Clara, bearing case

number 114CV274263, to this Court under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331-1332 and 1441.

DATED: January 23, 2015 LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By: /s/ Michael K. Grimaldi
Jon P. Kardassakis
Michael K. Grimaldi
Attorneys for Defendant P.F. CHANG’S

CHINA BISTRO, INC.
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4817-9154-1774.1

EXHIBIT “1”

Case5:15-cv-00344-RMW   Document1   Filed01/23/15   Page11 of 36



Case5:15-cv-00344-RMW   Document1   Filed01/23/15   Page12 of 36



Case5:15-cv-00344-RMW   Document1   Filed01/23/15   Page13 of 36



Case5:15-cv-00344-RMW   Document1   Filed01/23/15   Page14 of 36



Case5:15-cv-00344-RMW   Document1   Filed01/23/15   Page15 of 36



Case5:15-cv-00344-RMW   Document1   Filed01/23/15   Page16 of 36



Case5:15-cv-00344-RMW   Document1   Filed01/23/15   Page17 of 36



Case5:15-cv-00344-RMW   Document1   Filed01/23/15   Page18 of 36



1 Plaintiff Anna Maria Phillips ("Plaintiff'), on behalf of herself and all others similarly 

2 situated, complains ofP.F. Chang's China Bistro, Inc., an Arizona corporation ("P.F. Chang's"), 

3 and DOES 1 through 50, inclusive, as follows: 

4 INTRODUCTION 

5 1. Plaintiff brings this action pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 3 82 against 

6 Defendants P.F. Chang's and Does 1 through 50, inclusive ("Defendants"), on behalf of all 

7 consumers in California within four years of the filing of this lawsuit who have purchased items 

8 from P.F. Chang's Gluten Free menu and paid a higher price for the menu item than for the non-

9 gluten free version of the item on P.F. Chang's regular menu. 

10 2. It is medically necessary for individuals, like Plaintiff, to avoid consuming foods 

11 that contain gluten or have been exposed to gluten. Plaintiff has dined at P.F. Chang's restaurants 

12 in California between 2010 and 2014. When Plaintiff visited P.F. Chang's restaurants, she 

13 ordered items on the gluten-free menu. 

14 3. Throughout the class period, Defendants have provided a gluten free menu at their 

15 restaurants throughout California and nationwide. The gluten free menu consists of a subset of the 

16 items on P.F. Chang's regular, non-gluten menu, including appetizers and entrees. The gluten free 

1 7 items mirror their non-gluten free counterparts in name, content, and ingredients, with only small 

18 changes to make them gluten free. Each item on P.F. Chang's gluten free menu is priced at $1 

19 more than the same item on the regular, non-gluten free menu. 

20 4. P.F. Chang's claims that it "offer[s] an array of vegetarian dishes and [is] able to 

21 modify dishes to accommodate our customers with special dietary needs, including an extensive 

22 gluten-free menu." However, while P.F. Chang's does not impose a surcharge for making dietary 

23 accommodations to its regular menu items, it charges extra for each item on its separate "gluten-

24 free" menu. 

25 5. Consumers with celiac disease have no choice but to order gluten-free menu items. 

26 If they consume items on the non-gluten free menu, they will become sick. Customers with celiac 

27 disease are therefore charged an excessively high price for the same food that non-disabled 

28 customers purchase. 

1 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
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1 6. Plaintiff alleges that Defendants' conduct violates California's Unruh Act, 

2 California Civil Code section 51, et seq., and California's Business and Professions Code sections 

3 17200, et seq. (the Unfair Competition Law, or "UCL"). 

4 7. Plaintiff seeks damages under the Unruh Act, civil penalties under the Unruh Act, 

5 and restitution stemming from Defendants' unfair business practices. Plaintiff also seeks 

6 declaratory and injunctive relief to ensure that Defendants charge the same price to celiac and non-

7 celiac customers for the same menu items. 

8 

9 8. 

PARTIES 

P.F. Chang's China Bistro, Inc. has its headquarters in Scottsdale, Arizona. It 

10 operates 204 P.F. Chang's restaurants in 39 states nationwide, including throughout California. 

11 P.F. Chang's operates 8 restaurants in Northern California. 

12 9. Plaintiff has been diagnosed with celiac disease and must eat a diet of foods not 

13 containing gluten and that have not been exposed to gluten. Plaintiff will suffer adverse health 

14 consequences if she ingests gluten. Plaintiff has visited P.F. Chang's in Santa Clara County 

15 during the past four years before the filing of this action. She ordered items from P.F. Chang's 

16 gluten free menu. Plaintiff paid a $1 surcharge for each item she purchased on the gluten free 

1 7 menu on each of her visits. 

18 10. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate, or 

19 whatever else, of the defendants sued herein as Does 1 to 50, inclusive, are currently unknown to 

20 Plaintiff, who therefore sues these defendants by such fictitious names under Code of Civil 

21 Procedure§ 474. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that each of the defendants 

22 designated herein as Does is legally responsible in some manner for the unlawful acts referred to 

23 herein. Plaintiff will seek leave of court to amend this Complaint to reflect the true names and 

24 capacities of the defendants designated herein as Does when their identities become known. (As 

25 used herein, "Defendants" refers P.F. Chang's and Does 1 to 50, inclusive.) 

26 11. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that each defendant acted in 

27 all respects pertinent to this action as the agent of the other Defendants, that Defendants carried 

28 I I I 

2 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
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1 out a joint scheme, business plan, or policy in all respects pertinent hereto, and that the acts of 

2 each defendant are legally attributable to the other Defendants. 

3 12. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 395.5 

4 because the obligations giving rise to liability occurred in part in the County of Santa Clara, State 

5 of California. 

6 

7 13. 

BACKGROUND 

P.F. Chang's charges more for products on its gluten-free menu than the same 

8 items prepared non-gluten free on its regular menu. For instance, on its regular starters menu, P.F. 

9 Chang's offers "Chang's Chicken Lettuce Wraps," its "signature appetizer" containing "wok-

1 0 seared chicken, mushrooms, green onions and water chestnuts over crispy rice sticks, with crisp 

11 lettuce cups," at a price of $8.95. P.F. Chang's offers a gluten-free version of the same appetizer 

12 for $9.95: "GF Chang's Chicken Lettuce Wraps" its "signature appetizer," containing "wok-

13 seared chicken, mushrooms, green onions and water chestnuts over crispy rice sticks, with crisp 

14 lettuce cups." Similarly, P.F. Chang's offers a regular menu "Mongolian Beef' made of"[s]weet, 

15 soy-glazed flank steak wok-seared with scallions and garlic" for $15.95. The gluten-free version 

16 is the same but costs a dollar more, $16.95: "GF Mongolian Beef," consisting of"[s]weet, soy-

17 glazed flank steak wok-seared with scallions and garlic." 

18 14. This one-dollar additional cost per item is repeated for most items on the gluten-

19 free menu. This surcharge for the gluten-free items occurs even where the items at issue may 

20 naturally be gluten free such as vegetable dishes. For instance, P.F. Chang's offers a side of 

21 "Spinach With Garlic" consisting of"[t]ender leaves stir-fried with chopped garlic" for $2.95 for a 

22 small dish and $4.95 for a large dish. Its gluten-free menu offers the same item: "GF Spinach 

23 Stir-Fried With Garlic," consisting of"[t]ender leaves stir-fried with chopped garlic" at $3.95 for a 

24 small dish and $5.95 for a large dish. Similarly, P.F. Chang's offers its regular menu "Buddha's 

25 Feast" with "[s]avory soy sauce tossed with baked tofu, asparagus, shiitake mushrooms, broccoli 

26 and carrots" and offers it "steamed or stir fried," for $8.95. P.F. Chang's offers the gluten-free 

27 "Buddha's Feast" without soy sauce or tofu (i.e., two fewer ingredients than the regular menu 

28 item) and offers it steamed, an option available on its regular menu, but charges $9.95. 
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1 15. The one-dollar price differential exists with respect to all ten ofP.F. Chang's 

2 gluten-free entree menu items, its gluten-free appetizer, its gluten-free noodles, its gluten-free rice, 

3 its three gluten-free sides, and both of its gluten-free vegetarian entrees. Thus, a consumer with 

4 celiac disease eating a full meal at P.F. Chang's can end up paying at least $4 more than a 

5 consumer without celiac disease. Such price discrimination against consumers with this serious 

6 disability is forbidden by California law. 

7 16. P.F. Chang's discriminates against consumers with celiac disease through its 

8 disparate pricing of gluten-free menu items. A gluten-free diet is medically necessary for 

9 individuals with celiac disease and is not a choice. Without the availability of gluten-free menu 

10 options, individuals with celiac disease are deprived of the opportunity to enjoy dining out with 

11 their friends and family. P.F. Chang's gluten-free surcharge makes dining out less affordable for 

12 individuals with celiac disease compared with non-disabled consumers. The surcharges lack 

13 justification based on additional costs to P.F. Chang's of preparing the gluten-free items. The 

14 surcharges do not reflect additional costs of ingredients. In some instances the menu items are the 

15 same as the non-gluten free options or contain fewer ingredients. And some ofthe menu items 

16 are, on information and belief, naturally gluten free. Even where gluten-free ingredients are 

17 required, the negligible cost of using the portions of these ingredients needed to prepare each item 

18 is far less than the one-dollar-per-item surcharge. The disparate pricing draws arbitrary 

19 distinctions between consumers with and without celiac disease, which are disproportionate to the 

20 cost of providing the gluten-free items. The surcharges on gluten-free menu items therefore are 

21 discriminatory under the Umuh Act. 

22 Allegations as to the Named Plaintiff 

23 17. Plaintiff is and, throughout the entire class period, was a resident of the 

24 State of California. Throughout the class period, Plaintiff has been diagnosed with celiac disease. 

25 Plaintiff has avoided eating any foods containing gluten or that have been exposed to gluten 

26 during the class period. Plaintiff has dined at P.F. Chang's restaurants throughout California and 

27 ordered gluten-free items from P.F. Chang's gluten-free menu during the class period. 

28 I I I 

4 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

Case5:15-cv-00344-RMW   Document1   Filed01/23/15   Page22 of 36



1 

2 18. 

CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of herself and those similarly situated 

3 as a class action pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure § 3 82. Plaintiff seeks to represent the 

4 following classes: All persons who (1) have been diagnosed with celiac disease, or an intolerance 

5 or allergy to gluten; and (2) who purchased items from P.F. Chang's gluten-free menu in 

6 California within four years prior to the filing of the Complaint and continuing to the present. 

7 19. The class excludes counsel representing the class, governmental entities, 

8 Defendants, any entity in which Defendants have a controlling interest, Defendants' officers, 

9 directors, affiliates, legal representatives, employees, co-conspirators, successors, subsidiaries, and 

10 assigns, any judicial officer presiding over this matter, the members of their immediate families 

11 and judicial staff, and any individual whose interests are antagonistic to other putative class 

12 members. 

13 20. Plaintiff reserves the right under California Rule of Court 3.765 to amend or 

14 modify the class description with greater particularity or further division into subclasses or 

15 limitation to particular issues. 

16 21. This action has been brought and may properly be maintained as a class 

17 action under the provisions of Code of Civil Procedure § 3 82 because there is a well-defined 

18 community of interest in the litigation and the class is easily ascertainable. 

19 A. Numerosity 

20 22. The potential members of the class as defined are so numerous that joinder 

21 of all members ofthe class is impracticable. Although the precise number ofputative class 

22 members has not been determined at this time, Plaintiff is informed and believes that the proposed 

23 classes include thousands of members. 

24 B. Commonality 

25 23. There are questions of law and fact common to the class that predominate 

26 over any questions affecting only individual putative class members. These common questions of 

27 law and fact include: 

28 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 class. 

a. Whether Defendants' conduct was an "unfair practice" within the meaning of the 

UCL in that it offended established public policy and is immoral, unethical, 

oppressive, unscrupulous or substantially injurious to consumers; 

b. Whether Defendants' conduct was an "unlawful" practice within the meaning of 

the UCL; 

c. Whether Defendants violated California's Unruh Civil Rights Act, California 

Civil Code§ 51, et seq.; 

d. Whether Defendants violated California's Disabled Persons Act, California Civil 

Code § 54, et seq.; 

e. Whether Plaintiff and members of the putative class are entitled to damages, civil 

penalties, restitution, injunctive, declaratory and/or other equitable relief; 

f. Whether Plaintiff and the members of the class sustained monetary loss. 

C. Adequacy of Representation 

24. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the 

Counsel who represent Plaintiff and putative class members are experienced and competent 

16 in litigating class actions. 

17 D. Superiority of Class Action 

18 25. A class action is superior to other available means for the fair and efficient 

19 adjudication of this controversy. Individual joinder of putative class members is not practicable, 

20 and questions of law and fact common to putative class members predominate over any questions 

21 affecting only individual putative class members. Each putative class member has been damaged 

22 and is entitled to recovery by reason of Defendants' illegal policies or practices affecting all 

23 similarly situated persons. 

24 26. Class-action treatment will allow those persons similarly situated to litigate 

25 their claims in the manner that is most efficient and economical for the parties and the judicial 

26 system. Plaintiff is unaware of any difficulties in managing this case that should preclude class 

27 action. 

28 I I I 
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 1 

2 

3 

4 

Violation of California's Unruh Civil Rights Act, Cal. Civ. Code§ 51, et seq. 

27. 

28. 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference each allegation set forth above. 

California's Unruh Act provides, "All persons within the jurisdiction of this state 

5 are free and equal, and no matter what their sex, race, color, religion, ancestry, national origin, 

6 disability, medical condition, marital status, or sexual orientation are entitled to the full and equal 

7 accommodations, advantages, facilities, privileges, or services in all business establishments of 

8 every kind whatsoever." Cal. Civ. Code§ 51(b). 

9 29. The Unruh Act prohibits businesses from engaging in unreasonable, arbitrary or 

10 invidious discrimination, including through the unequal treatment of patrons. For example, 

11 businesses may not offer discounts to some classes of patrons but require payment of full price 

12 from other classes of patrons, where the price difference is based on arbitrary, class-based 

13 generalizations (such as gender). 1 

14 30. The Unruh Act provides that whoever "denies, aids or incites a denial, or makes 

15 any discrimination or distinction contrary to [the Act]" is liable for each and every offense, up to 

16 three times the amount of actual damages but in no case less than $4,000, plus attorneys' fees. Id. 

17 at§ 52(a). 

18 31. Defendants' conduct constitutes a violation of California's Unruh Act, Cal. Civ. 

19 Code § 51, et seq. As alleged above, Defendants practiced price discrimination against customers 

20 with celiac disease in California throughout the class period. 

21 32. Defendants' practice of surcharging gluten-free menu items purchased by 

22 consumers with celiac disease (or gluten sensitivities) constitutes price discrimination in violation 

23 of the Unruh Act. 

24 33. As a direct and proximate cause of Defendants' violation of the Unruh Act, 

25 Plaintiff and class members have suffered injury, including but not limited to the violation of their 

26 statutory rights and loss of money as the result of price discrimination. Therefore they are entitled 

27 to damages. 

28 1 See, e.g., Pizarro v. Lamb's Players Theatre, 135 Cal.App.4th 1171, 1174 (2006); Angelucci v. Century 
Supper Club, 41 Ca1.4th 160, 164, 178 (2007); Koire v. Metro Car Wash, 40 Cal.3d 24, 39 (1985). 
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1 34. The aforementioned acts ofDefendants·were willful, wanton, malicious, 

2 intentional, oppressive, and despicable, and were done in willful and conscious disregard ofthe 

3 rights of Plaintiffs, and were done by managerial agents and employees of Defendants, or with the 

4 express knowledge, consent, and ratification of managerial employees of Defendants, and thereby 

5 justify the awarding of punitive and exemplary damages in an amount to be determined at the time 

6 oftrial. 

7 SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

8 Violation of California's Disabled Persons Act, Cal. Civ. Code§ 54, et seq. 

9 3 5. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each allegation set forth above. 

10 36. Under California's Disabled Persons Act, "[i]ndividuals with disabilities or medical 

11 conditions have the same right as the general public to the full and free use of the streets, 

12 highways, sidewalks, walkways, public buildings, medical facilities, including hospitals, clinics, 

13 and physicians' offices, public facilities, and other public places." Cal. Civ. Code§ 54( a). 

14 37. California's Disabled Persons Act also guarantees "[i]ndividuals with disabilities 

15 ... full and equal access, as other members of the general public, to accommodations, advantages, 

16 facilities, medical facilities, including hospitals ... and other places to which the general public is 

17 invited, subject only to the conditions and limitations established by law, or state or federal 

18 regulation, and applicable alike to all persons." § 54.1. 

19 38. California's Disabled Persons Act creates a private right of action against a person 

20 who "denies or interferes with admittance to or enjoyment ofthe public facilities" or "otherwise 

21 interferes with the rights of an individual with a disability." Cal. Civ. Code § 54.3. 

22 39. A violation of the federal Americans with Disabilities Act (see 42 U.S.C. § 

23 12111(9), 42 U.S.C. § 12182(a)) (the "ADA") also constitutes a violation ofthe DPA. Cal. Civ. 

24 Code§ 54.l(d).2 

25 40. The ADA requires that a "public accommodation shall make reasonable 

26 modifications in policies, practices, or procedures, when the modifications are necessary to afford 

27 I I I 

28 2 See, e.g., Pilling v. Bay Area Rapid Transit, 881 F. Supp. 2d 1152, 1162-63 (N.D. Cal. 2012). 

8 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

Case5:15-cv-00344-RMW   Document1   Filed01/23/15   Page26 of 36



1 goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations to individuals with 

2 disabilities[.]" 28 C.P.R. § 36.302(a). 

3 41. Importantly, the ADA provides that a "public accommodation may not impose a 

4 surcharge on a particular individual with a disability or any group of individuals with disabilities 

5 to cover the costs of measures, such as the provision of auxiliary aids, barrier removal, alternatives 

6 to barrier removal, and reasonable modifications in policies, practices, or procedures, that are 

7 required to provide that individual or group with the nondiscriminatory treatment required by the 

8 Act or this part." 28 C.P.R. §36.301. 

9 42. If an establishment already makes alterations or modifications, or takes special 

10 orders for its customers, it must do so for disabled customer requests as well. See 28 C.P.R. 

11 §36.307(a) & (b) ("A public accommodation shall order accessible or special goods at the request 

12 of an individual with disabilities, if, in the normal course of its operation, it makes special orders 

13 on request for unstocked goods, and if the accessible or special goods can be obtained from a 

14 supplier with whom the public accommodation customarily does business."). Special foods are 

15 expressly included among special orders. 28 C.P.R. 36.307( c) ("Examples of accessible or special 

16 goods include items such as Brailled versions ofbooks, books on audio cassettes, closed-captioned 

17 video tapes, special sizes or lines of clothing, and special foods to meet particular dietary 

18 needs.")( emphasis added). 

19 43. Under the ADA, disability means: "(A) a physical or mental impairment that 

20 substantially limits one or more major life activities of such individual; (B) a record of such an 

21 impairment; or (C) being regarded as having such an impairment." "[M]ajor life activities include, 

22 but are not limited to, caring for oneself, performing manual tasks, seeing, hearing, eating, 

23 sleeping, walking, standing, lifting, bending, speaking, breathing, learning, reading, concentrating, 

24 thinking, communicating, and working," as well as "the operation of a major bodily function, 

25 including but not limited to, functions of the immune system, normal cell growth, digestive, 

26 bowel, bladder, neurological, brain, respiratory, circulatory, endocrine, and reproductive 

27 functions." 42 U.S.C. § 12102(1) and (2). 

28 I I I 
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I 44. Celiac disease affects a major life activity of eating and impacts the digestive 

2 system. These are bodily systems expressly included under the ADA. 

3 45. P.F. Chang's is a public accommodation within the meaning of the ADA. See 42 

4 U.S.C. § 12181(7)(B). 

5 46. P.F. Chang's must offer modifications to make its menu items gluten free in order 

6 to make its restaurants accessible to patrons with celiac disease and gluten sensitivities. Even 

7 though persons with celiac disease can physically enter the restaurants, they cannot eat anything 

8 sold in the restaurants unless the items are modified to remove gluten from their preparation 

9 and/or ingredients. P.F. Chang's menus are otherwise inaccessible to persons with celiac disease, 

10 and these persons are deprived ofthe opportunity to dine out like non-disabled persons. 

11 47. In its annual report to shareholders, P.F. Chang's boasts that it modifies menu 

12 orders upon patrons' request, and that it accommodates persons with food sensitivities.3 Given its 

13 publicly declared practice of modifying orders to suit customers' needs, it must do so for persons 

14 with celiac disease who require gluten-free orders, without penalizing these disabled patrons by 

15 imposing a surcharge. 

16 48. P.F. Chang's conduct constitutes a violation of the ADA. Because it violates the 

17 ADA, P.F. Chang's conduct also constitutes a violation of California's Disabled Persons Act, a 

18 part of the Unruh Act. 

19 49. Plaintiff and class members are entitled to an injunction enjoining further 

20 surcharges by P.F. Chang's on gluten-free orders by persons with celiac disease and gluten 

21 sensitivities. Cal. Civ. Code§ 55. 

22 50. The aforementioned acts of Defendants were willful, wanton, malicious, intentional, 

23 oppressive, and despicable, and were done in willful and conscious disregard ofthe rights of 

24 Plaintiffs, and were done by managerial agents and employees of Defendants, or with the express 

25 knowledge, consent, and ratification of managerial employees ofDefendants, and thereby justify 

26 the awarding of punitive and exemplary damages in an amount to be determined at the time of 

27 trial. 

28 3 See P.F. Chang's China Bistro, Inc. 2011 Annual Report, available at 
http://www .pfcb.com/docs/ AnnualReports/PFCBAnnualReport20 11.pdf. 
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1 

2 

3 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

Unfair Business Practices in Violation of 

Business & Professions Code § 17200, et seq. 

4 51. Plaintiff incorporates by reference each allegation set forth above. 

5 52. The UCL defines unfair business competition to include any "unlawful, 

6 unfair or fraudulent" act or practice. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200. 

7 53. A business act or practice is "unfair" under the UCL if the reasons, 

8 justifications, and motives of the alleged wrongdoer are outweighed by the gravity ofthe harm to 

9 the alleged victims. 

10 54. Defendants' conduct as set forth herein constitutes unfair business acts and 

11 practices. 

12 55. Defendants discriminated against customers with celiac disease and gluten 

13 sensitivities by surcharging them for purchasing gluten-free menu items. Defendants took 

14 advantage of these disabled customers, who had no alternative but to purchase gluten-free items at 

15 the higher price because they medically are unable to tolerate items that contain or were exposed 

16 to gluten. 

17 56. Plaintiff and the members of the putative class suffered a substantial injury 

18 by virtue of buying Defendants' gluten-free menu items at the surcharged prices, which additional 

19 costs they would not have paid absent Defendants' illegal conduct. 

20 57. The consequences of Defendants' conduct as set forth herein outweigh any 

21 justification, motive, or reason therefor. Defendants' conduct is and continues to be unlawful, 

22 unscrupulous and contrary to public policy, and is substantially injurious to Plaintiff and the 

23 members of the putative class. 

24 58. As a result of Defendants' conduct, Plaintiff and the members of the 

25 putative class, pursuant to Business and Professions Code§ 17203, are entitled to an order 

26 enjoining such future conduct by Defendants, and such other orders and judgments which may be 

27 necessary to disgorge Defendants' ill-gotten gains and restore money paid to Defendants in 

28 I I I 
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I connection with purchases of gluten-free menu items by Plaintiff and the members of the putative 

2 class. 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

59. 

60. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Unlawful Business Practices in Violation of 

Business and Professions Code § 17200, et seq. 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference each allegation set forth above. 

Defendants' conduct as set forth herein constitutes unlawful business 

8 practices under California Business and Professions Code sections § 17200, et seq. 

9 61. Defendants sold its surcharged gluten-free menu items in California during 

I 0 the class period. 

II 62. Defendants' price discrimination against disabled consumers with celiac 

I2 disease and gluten sensitivities was unlawful because it violated the Unruh Act, California Civil 

13 Code§ 51, et seq., and the Disabled Persons Act, Cal. Civ. Code§ 54(a). 

I4 63. As a result of Defendants' conduct as set forth herein, Plaintiff and each 

IS member of the putative class, pursuant to Business and Professions Code § 17203, are entitled to 

16 an order enjoining such future conduct by Defendants, and such other orders and judgments which 

I7 may be necessary to disgorge Defendants' ill-gotten gains and restore money paid to Defendants 

I8 in connection with purchases of gluten-free menu items by Plaintiff and the members of the 

I9 putative class. 

20 

2I 

22 64. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

Restitution Based On Quasi-Contract/Unjust Enrichment 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference each allegation set forth above. Plaintiff 

23 pleads this cause of action in the alternative. 

24 65. Defendants' conduct in surcharging Plaintiff and putative class members for 

25 purchasing gluten-free menu items is unlawful because it constitutes arbitrary and unequal 

26 treatment of disabled patrons in violation of the Unruh Act and DP A. Defendants' took additional 

27 monies from Plaintiff and members of the putative class for gluten-free menu items that were 

28 substantially identical to non-gluten free menu items except for the presence of gluten based solely 
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1 on the fact that Plaintiff and the putative class cannot consume foods with gluten and had no 

2 choice but to pay a surcharge for gluten-free foods. 

3 66. Defendants have been unjustly enriched at the expense of Plaintiff and the 

4 putative class as result of Defendants' unlawful conduct alleged herein, thereby creating a quasi-

5 contractual obligation on Defendants to restore these ill-gotten gains to Plaintiff and putative class 

6 members. 

7 67. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants' unjust enrichment, Plaintiff 

8 and putative class members are entitled to restitution or restitutionary disgorgement, in an amount 

9 to be proved at trial. 

10 PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

11 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of herself and on behalf of the other members of the 

12 putative class, prays as follows: 

13 A. For an order certifying that this action is properly brought and may be maintained 

14 as a class action, that Plaintiff be appointed the Class Representative, and that Plaintiffs counsel 

15 be appointed counsel for the class; 

16 B. For restitution of the surcharges that Plaintiff and putative class members paid for 

17 gluten-free menu items, or restitutionary disgorgement of the profits Defendants have obtained 

18 from those transactions; 

19 C. For compensatory damages for all causes of action for which they are available; 

20 D. For treble damages under California Civil Code§ 52( a) or for a minimum $4,000 

21 per violation under California Civil Code§ 52(a); 

22 

23 

E. 

F. 

For punitive damages for causes of action fot which they are available; 

For a declaration and order enjoining Defendants from charging a higher price for 

24 gluten-free menu items than for non-gluten free menu items under California Civil Code§ 55 and 

25 California Business & Professions Code§ 17203; 

26 

27 

28 I I I 

G. 

H. 

For an order awarding reasonable attorneys' fees and the costs of suit herein; 

For an award of pre- and post-judgment interest; 
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1 I. For an order requiring an accounting for, and imposition of, a constructive trust 

2 upon all monies received by Defendants as a result of the price discrimination; and 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

J. 

DATED: 

Such other and further relief as may be deemed necessary or appropriate. 

December 9, 2014 

Respectfully submitted, 

COUNSELONE, PC 

By~~~~ 
Anthony J. Orshansky 
Justin Kachadoorian 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Anna Marie 
Phillips and the Putative Class 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiffhereby demands a jury trial on all issues so triable. 

DATED: December 9, 2014 COUNSELONE, PC 
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transmission, any electronic message or other indication that the transmission 
was unsuccessful. 

Cora Ruvalcaba 

4816-5923.4593.1 
	

1 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of 
America and the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed on January' ---; 2015, at Los Angeles, California. 
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